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The church would
have been visible
and audible from

almost every point
in the parish.

Opposite: Towards
the west door
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itself which is pointed and of two hollow-chamfered orders
carried on shafts with moulded capitals. In the south wall there
are two pointed lancet windows, a piscina and a recess (which now
contains a sixteenth-century brass), and a rounded string course
which runs externally and internally on the south and east walls.

Elsewhere in the church, the north chapel was remodelled

and extended eastwards and both north and south aisles were
heightened. At this time the north porch and, most notably, the
western tower were added. Although this was substantially rebuilt
in the 15th century, the original bases of the arches to the nave
and aisle remain. Towers were added to churches to house the
church bells and increase visibility from the surrounding fields,
all part of the increasing importance of religion in the daily lives
of medieval men and women. From the 13th century, the church

at Hanborough would have been visible and audible from almost
every point in the parish.

The Fourteenth and Fifteenth Centuries

HE 14th century saw little change in the interior of the
church. The vestry, originally with two floors, was added to
the north side of the chancel, allowing the priest and his
assistants to prepare for the divine service in the church itself. By
this period Hanborough's rectors were mostly ‘absentee’ - they
an income from the church but rarely if ever visited. The
church would instead have been served by a low-

drew

paid curate, who
ay have used the upper room of the vestry as living quarters.
The east end of the north aisle has the remains of a window that
was blocked when the vestry was built.

The most radical change to the appearance of the church came
in the early 15th century. In 1399 Pope Boniface IX granted
an indulgence to any person who went to Hanborough church
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| The North Nave

during the feasts of Epiphany, Easter, the Nativity of St John the
Baptist, and St Peter in Chains and who donated alms for the
upkeep of the candles around the Sepulchre of the Lord (where
the consecrated host was stored around Easter; probably the
arched recess in the south wall of the chancel), or to the fabric and
conservation of the church.

How much revenue the indulgence attracted is unknown, but

the resulting renovation was of a markedly high standard. The
western tower was almost entirely rebuilt, with the octagonal
spire and quatrefoiled parapet added at this date along with a pair
of offset buttresses to the west to support the extra weight. The
nave arcades were remodelled with elegant piers with concave
faces carried through to the capitals, an early example of a design
later found in several other Cotswold churches (in particular

Chipping Campden and Northleach) and soaring two-centred

arches. The clerestory and flatter roof above are of the late 15th
or early 16th century, and the whole gives the nave a much lighter
feel both through the number of windows and the loftiness of the

ceiling and arcades.

A number of the church windows date from the 15th century,

as the small older windows were replaced to allow more light

into the church, as well as to give more opportunity for the
introduction of stained glass. The jambs visible either side of the
nineteenth-century east chancel window are a remnant of an
earlier square-headed, four-light window of this date, similar to
the two large ogee-headed three-light windows in the south aisle.
‘These windows provided opportunities for parishioners to donate
commemorative stained glass. The window in the south chapel
previously contained the pictures of three couples - William
Bayly and his wife; Richard and Margaret Snareston; and Thomas
and Tibott Roch - and the words ‘Orate pro bono statu Ricardi
Snareston ceterorumque qui reparaverunt istam fenestram, Anno
Domini MCCCCLIIT (Pray for the good state of Richard Snareston
and the others who repaired this window, AD 1453). The large
window in the south aisle also had commemorative glass,
requesting prayers for John Sprot and Tibott Roch. The stained
glass of St Francis now in this window was inserted in 1951 in
memory of a prominent church member, Mrs. Hilda Mansell,
recognising her love of animals.

‘The font is late 15th century, with panels displaying quatrefoils
and crosses and the (originally) central panel displaying the Arma
Christi - the instruments of the Crucifixion. Around the cross,
from left to right, are the pincers used to remove the nails, the
spear which pierced Christ’s side, the crown of thorns, another
spear, and the column against which Christ was whipped. Two
panels are blank, as the font originally stood against the pier at
the east end of the south nave arcade, opposite the pulpit. It was

moved to its present position in 1892.

15th Century
window

The stained glass of
St Francis
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survives only in the aisles. The stairs and doorway to access the
loft can still be seen in the south aisle. The whole would have
been surmounted with a large wooden cross (the ‘rood’) of which
the fixing-holes can still be seen in the inner side of the chancel
arch. In the screen itself the small cross-shaped or arched holes in
the panelling, known as ‘squints’, would allow those kneeling in
prayer at the front of the nave to see the Mass being performed.
‘The delightful octagonal pulpit on its slender stem is of a similar
date to the screen. Both screen and pulpit were lightly restored in
the 19th century.

Also dating from the 15th century are the carved heads that can

be found as label-stops at the east and west ends of the nave
arcades as well as at the bases of the roof timbers in the nave. Screen and doorway
Medieval churches frequently contain humorous or odd images, 0t
and amongst the figures pulling faces there is a man who appears

to be suffering from toothache.

Both aisles have subsidiary chapels to the main altar at their
eastern ends, and clear evidence remains of this earlier use.

The north chapel, dedicated to Our Lady, has two recesses with
fine paintings of Tudor roses dating to shortly after Henry VII's
victory at Bosworth Field in 1485. These were restored in 2007
and carefully conserved to reveal their original late-fifteenth-
century paintwork. Another Tudor rose can be found in the
stained glass of the south aisle - testament to the appeal of the
new royal family. In the floor at the east end of the nave are the
remains of a brass, probably of the late 15th century, to Joan Ford
and her husbands, Thomas Wheeler and Christopher Ford. The
figures of her seven children, three boys and four girls, have been

lost.
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Wall painting:

North Chapel

The Sixteenth to Eighteenth Centuries

HE history of church architecture between the Reformation

of the mid 16th century and the Victorian period is

not a particularly happy one. Yet, unlike many parish
churches, Hanborough received regular repairs and building
works throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.
The spire, parts of the roof, eaves, and the internal plaster were
repaired between 1660 and 1662. It was at this time that the
church received its first clock, an extremely rare ‘verge and
pendulum’ type made without face or hands, probably of the late
17th century (now at Combe Mill). The bells are mostly earlier,
comprising a ring of six: i) cast by Mears and Stain bank of
Whitechapel in 1956; ii) by James Wells of Aldbourne in 1807; iii)
by Robert Atton of Buckinghamshire in 1616; iv) by Joseph Carter
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Margaret Clarke
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cherubs and winged skulls, are of the 18th century. On the

north wall is a monument to Thomas Smith, who was curate of
Hanborough from 1699 to 1729, while on the south are those

of William Denison, Principal of Magdalen Hall (now Hertford
College, Oxford) and his wife Anna Maria Denison, daughter of
Thomas Bouchier. The Bouchiers were local gentry living in Long
Hanborough, and the north chapel in the church was their private
chapel, as shown by the commemorative marble urn and tablet of

1780 on the east wall.

Victorian to Modern Day (]
The Memorial
BW churches were not restored either partly or wholly by Chapel

the Victorians, in an attempt to return the appearance

of parish churches to the ‘ideal’ of fourteenth-century
Gothic architecture. Hanborough’s fabric received general repairs
between 1845 and 1847, but more important restoration was
undertaken under the direction of Samuel Lipscomb Seckham
in 1860. Seckham was Town Planner and the architect of Park
Town in Oxford, and gave his services as an architect free to
Hanborough. As part of his works, the fifteenth-century east
window of the chancel was removed and replaced with one in the
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GLOSSARY

Aisle
Arcade
Aumbry

Capital
Chancel

Clerestory
Easter Sepulchre
Hood moulding

Jamb
Lancet

Nave
Ogee

Order arch
Pier

Piscina

Quatrefoil
Rere-arch
Reredos

Roll moulding
Rood loft
Rood screen

passage adjoining the side of, and usually the BErigconEse

same length as, the nave.
series of arches supported by pillars and used

to divide one part of a church from another. Tracery
small cupboard built into the wall. Used for the
storage of liturgical vessels. Tympanum
stone at the top of a pillar supporting an arch
eastern part of the church containing the altar

Vestry

and sometimes separated from the nave by a
screen. Reserved for the use of the clergy and
the choir.

upper walls of the nave, above the aisles,
pierced with windows to let in extra light.
recess used to house the sacrament between
Good Friday and Easter morning.

projecting section over an arch which serves to
throw rainwater clear of the building.

upright side of a doorway or window.

tall and narrow window, often with a pointed
top.

main body of the church in which the
congregation is housed.

arch moulding shaped as a flowing double
curve meeting at a central point.

areceding carved arch.

freestanding vertical pillar supporting part of
an arched arcade.

niche containing a stone bowl or drain,
allowing unused holy water to be poured away

after services.

tracery in the shape of a four-petalled flower.
inner arch of a window or doorway.
decorated screen behind the altar.

decorative cylindrical or convex contour.
gallery over the rood screen.

carved screen separating the nave and chancel
projecting band of masonry running
horizontally around the exterior or interior
walls.

perforated ornamental stonework, usually in
windows.

semi-circular stone between the lintel of

a doorway and the arch above, often
decoratively carved.

room used to store vestments and other
important items in the church.
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LIST OF RECTORS

1238 HUGH
1244 RICHARD OF FRESINGFIELD
1253 HENRY DE WENGHAM
1255 HENRY DE LA MARE
? HENRY DE WOODSTOCK
1267 PHILIP DE TANGLEY
1281 JOHN DE READING
1311 ALEXANDER DE QUAPPELODE
1336 GEOFFREY DE ALVETON
1340 WILLIAM DE WINTRESHALL
1342 JOHN DE EMAKENES
1345 JOHN NOYON
1361 WILLIAM DE GUNTHORP
1364 ROBERT
1365 JOHN DE LEDCOMBE
1370 THOMAS CAVE
1378 WILLIAM DE BLOXHAM
? HUGH HULL
1410 JOHN TURRY
1458 SIMON TAWERE
1505 RICHARD FOSTER
1511 THOMAS FOX
1515 EDWARD MYLLER
1518 JOHN HIGDEN
1532 JOHN NASE
1534 JOHN HOLYMAN
1558 THOMAS NELE
1567 RALPH MERRIMAN
1572 RICHARD BARBOUR
1576 JOHN BATES

1623 JOSEPH FORDE
1638 THOMAS WALKER
1648 ROBERT HARRIS
1653 ROBERT ROGERS
1660 THOMAS WALKER
1666 RICHARD BAYLIES
1667 PETER MEWS
1673 WILLIAM LEVINE
1697 WILLIAM DELAUNE
1728 WILLIAM HOLMES
1748 WILLIAM DERHAM
1757 THOMAS FRY
1772 SAMUEL DENNIS
1795 MICHAEL MARLOW
1828 PHILIP WYNTER
1854 RICHARD HIGGS
1891WILLIAM WILSON
1906 SAMUEL COOKE
1911 ROBERT BAILEY
1928 JOHN EVANS
1939 ARTHUR POWELL
1940 RALPH HOUGHTON
1946 GEORGE WILKINS
1955 DOUGLAS SPAFFORD
1961 VERE DUCKER
1967 HOWARD THOMAS
1984 JOHN BLYTH
1990 COLIN RANDALL
2000 TIM NAISH
2007 DAVID TYLER
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Prayer

God of all times and places,

thank you for this place, where prayer has been
made and heard for many centuries.

Bless me as I leave this place,

knowing that you stay with me wherever [ go.

Amen.

Acknowledgement
Written and researched by Dr JC Jenkins

A fuller account of Hanborough’s history appears in the Victoria County History of
Oxfordshire volume XII, available free online at HYPERLINK “http://www.british-
history.ac. uk/vch/oxon/vol12"www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/oxon/vol12
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We welcome you to this ancient
and beautiful church

THE PARISH AND ITS
PEOPLE

HE parish of Hanborough is comprised of two villages.

‘The original population centre at Church Hanborough

contains the parish church and the site of the former
manor house, while Long Hanborough to the north developed
later along the important Witney to Bicester road. Hanborough
is first mentionied in the UoBmm&,m< Book of 1086, although there
has been settlement in the area for. millennia. Within the parish
can be found Bronze Age barrows, Iron Age farmsteads, and a
pre-Christian Anglo-Saxon cemetery of around 600 AD, The name
Hanborough is itself Anglo-Saxon, meaning a hill belonging to
aman called Hanega or Hanna, both fairly common Germanic
names. The parish boundaries have remained largely unchanged
since medieval times. In 1066 the manor was held by an Anglo-
Saxon by the name of Tonni, but after the Norman Conquest it
passed to Gilbert of Ghent: In.1086 there were five slaves and
twenty-six villagers using twelve ploughs to work the land. The
manor also contained a mill, the site of which was continuously
utilised for milling until the 1920s. By 1105 Hanborough was the
property of the Henry I who stayed at his manor house here.

From the medieval period until the mid-twentieth century
the majority of Hanborough residents made their living from
agriculture. Subsidiary industries included stone-quarrying,
brick-making, occasional cloth-weaving, and, from the nineteenth
century, working on the railways. In the Victorian era the Witney
glove trade was a major economic force in the area, and by 1867 all
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The Church circa
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the women in the parish were said to be involved in glove-making.
Hanborough has also had a long association with the University
of Oxford. From the thirteenth century most of its rectors were
students or masters there, and since 1665 the Presidents of St

John's College have been patrons of the church.

Although Hanborough is now the parish of Saints Peter and Paul,
for most of its 1000-year history the sole patron was St Peter.
Throughout the medieval period and up to the end of the sixteenth

century the church was always referred to as St Peter’s, and it was
only in the eighteenth century that the parish acquired its co-
patron. Peter and Paul are a natural pairing, and several churches in
Oxfordshire have this dedication. There was a tendency for patron
saints to be forgotten or purposefully removed in the Puritanical
excesses of the seventeenth century, and their later reinstatement
led to errors such as this creeping in.

In the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries the size of the
parish and the distance between Long Hanborough and Church
Hanborough caused problems with church attendances. In 1851
less than a quarter of the parishioners attended the church on
Census Sunday, although the rector blamed the wet weather for the
low turnout. By 1884 the rector was holding some church services
in Long Hanborough Infants’ School to encourage attendance, and
in 1893 the mission church of Christ Church was founded in the
village through the efforts of rector William Wynne Wilson.

The Church from
Pigeon House Lane
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THE CHURCH BUILDING

The Earliest Church

HE church at Hanborough was first mentioned in about
1130 when King Henry I granted it to the abbey of
Reading. Judging by the fabric of the building, it was
not much earlier that the outline of the present church was
constructed. No trace of any previous building is evident and it
is quite possible that the parish was created by the king on his
acquisition of the manor in about 1105. 10501150 was a period
of ‘Great Rebuilding’ of churches throughout England, where the

country was divided up into parishes and many of the first stone
churches, including Hanborough, were built. Churches of the King Henry I
early 12th century tended to be fairly simple, but Hanborough’s

multiple aisles and chapels probably reflected its status as

belonging to a royal manor. Here the basic form of the church

is largely unchanged from that of the first building: a chancel,

with chapels to the north and south, and a double-aisled nave,

although the western tower was a thirteenth-century addition.

Yet, despite only minor differences between the original ground

plan and the church as it stands today, the fabric has an extremely

complex history of development and renewal, as almost every

generation has left its mark upon the building.

The most striking remaining features of this early twelfth-century
church are the doorways in the north and south aisles of the nave.
Both are made of Forest Marble, a locally prevalent hard Oolitic
limestone. Churches were usually approached from the southern
side — the north being associated with death and the site of the Opposite: The
cemetery. At Hanborough, however, the manor-house was to the  North Parch with
north of the church, so the main entrance is from that side. The  Tympanum
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north doorway is thus by far the more elaborate, consisting of a
zig-zag carved hood over a roll-moulded arch set on jamb shafts
with scalloped capitals. The tympanum above is a particularly fine
example of its type. The centre displays St. Peter enthroned and
holding his keys, a (very worn) cockerel at his feet, flanked by the
Agnus Dei (Lamb of God) and the Lion of St. Mark, holding a scroll.
A common misapprehension is that the lion is being restrained by
the hand of God, when in fact this is an optical illusion created by
The
whole would probably have been brightly painted and would have

the close proximity of the lion’s wings to the end of its taj

made a very striking church entrance. Surviving Norman tympana
are more common in this region than anywhere else in England;
only Gloucestershire has more than Oxfordshire. Hanborough's is
unusual, however, inasmuch as it s one of a very small number
to display the church’s patron saint in such a central position. The
figures of the lamb and lion are carved much more crisply than that
of St Peter and may have been restored, if not entirely recarved, in
the 19th century. Also note that on the underside of the lintel the
marks of the mason’s handaxe, where the stone was cut down in

the 12th century, are still visible

The porch with its pointed arch of three orders was added around
a century after the doorway, while the wooden studded and
strap-hinged doors of both the porch and the doorway itself are
seventeenth-century. From inside the church, the rough nature of
the rere-arch may seem striking, but is characteristic of the period.

The south doorway, while of similar form, is plainer and perhaps
of a slightly later date. It seems likely that this door was always
subordinate to the grander northern entrance. The doorway also
has roll mouldings and a tympanum, although this is inscribed
simply with a curious irregular cross, cut into at the bottom by
a fifteenth-century arch. This may have been one of the original
consecration crosses, carved where the bishop anointed the walls
with holy oil during the dedication of the church. There are also
the remains of a Mass clock - a sundial indicating the times at
which services were held. The south porch was erected in the 17

century, and has been converted in the 20th century to serve as

toilet facilities and a boiler room.

Afew other in situ elements survive from the early twelfth-century
church. At the west end of the north aisle and the east end of the
south aisle are lancet windows typical of the 12th century. They
would originally have been unglazed and open, hence their small
size and wide inner splay allowing as much light in as possible
without making the church too draughty. They also show the
thickness of the twelfth-century rubble-filled walls. The north aisle
has two more early lancets: a late twelfth-century pointed light to
the west of the doorway and an early thirteenth-century round-

The North Porch
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headed example to the east. In the north wall of the chancel there
is a chamfered doorway from the early church, with a fifteenth-
century studded door, flanked by recesses of a similar date. The
recesses, or aumbries, served as cupboards for the chalices and
sacramental vessels, and were fitted with doors or curtains, the

marks from which are still evident.

Despite these surviving features, the earliest church would have
been very different in character from the one we see today. The
nave arcades and chancel arch would have been thick, round arches
rather than the elegant pointed styles of their later replacements.
‘The whole church would have been darker and much colder, as the
small unglazed lancets were the only windows. The nave was also
much lower than its present height. If you look above the tower
arch at the west end of the nave, you can easily see the steep-
pitched line of the original nave roof before the clerestory lights

were built.

The Thirteenth Century

LITTLE over one hundred years after the foundation of

the church, in the mid-13th century, a number of grand

changes were made to the fabric. Firstly, the chancel
was rebuilt in fine style and extended eastwards - a line in the
plaster to the east of the arched recess on the south wall shows
where the original chancel ended. Early twelfth-century chancels
tended to be low and small, with narrow arches allowing little
visibility through to the altar. With the increasing importance laid
on the host and the act of the Mass in the late 12th century came
a desire for greater visibility for the congregation and grander
surroundings for the priest’s divine act. Thus many churches,
Hanborough included, underwent rebuilding schemes to their
eastern ends. The chancel here largely retains its thirteenth-
century character. Work of that date includes the chancel arch





